Grand Valley State University ScholarWorks@GVSU

**Masters Theses** 

Graduate Research and Creative Practice

5-5-2023

# Serotonin and Its Effects on the Chronic Stress Response in Crayfish Following Nonylphenol Exposure

Tara M. Olen

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/theses

Part of the Aquaculture and Fisheries Commons

#### ScholarWorks Citation

Olen, Tara M., "Serotonin and Its Effects on the Chronic Stress Response in Crayfish Following Nonylphenol Exposure" (2023). *Masters Theses*. 1094. https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/theses/1094

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Research and Creative Practice at ScholarWorks@GVSU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@GVSU. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gvsu.edu.

# Serotonin and Its Effects on the Chronic Stress Response in Crayfish Following Nonylphenol

Exposure

Tara Olen

A Thesis Submitted to The Graduate Faculty of

## GRAND VALLEY STATE UNIVERSITY

In

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

Master Of Health Sciences

Department of Biomedical Sciences

April 2023

#### **Thesis Approval Form**



The signatories of the committee below indicate that they have read and approved the thesis of Tara Olen in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Health Science.

4/21/23 Dr. Daniel Bergman, Thesis committee chair

2023

Dr. Kristin Renkema, Committee member

onode.

Dr. John Capodilupo, Committee member

1/21/ un Date

Dr. Merritt Delano-Taylor, Committee member

Accepted and approved on behalf of the **College of Liberal Arts and Sciences** 

Dean of the College

4/24/2023

Accepted and approved on behalf of the **Graduate Faculty** 

<u>4-21-2023</u> Date

Dean & The Graduate School

5/5/2023

Date

Date

## Acknowledgments

Special thank you to my mentor, Dr. Daniel Bergman, to my committee members Dr. Kristin Renkema, Dr. John Capodilupo, and Dr. Merritt Delano-Taylor, and to my program advisor Dr. Christopher Pearl. Also thank you to undergraduates Nina Alpers, Maddy Maurer, and Abby Niessink.

#### Abstract

Current research suggests that stress in both vertebrates and invertebrates is modulated in part by the neurotransmitter serotonin. It has been shown that crayfish can function as a good neurophysiological model, as they have less complex neurological systems than vertebrates, so mechanistic causes for stress can be more readily studied and understood. One potential stressor for aquatic species such as crayfish would be nonylphenol, a hydrophobic chemical used in agricultural products that can make its way into the water supply due to agricultural runoff. Nonylphenol can lead to physiological and behavioral impairments in crayfish and these impairments likely induce stress in crayfish. Long-term exposure to nonylphenol may therefore induce a chronic stress response in crayfish. One potential target for the treatment of stress is serotonin. Previous research demonstrating that serotonin will increase stress in crayfish has been performed but was conducted using acute stressors, therefore lacking the effects of serotonin on the chronic stress response. Many have also performed behavioral analyses to determine anxiety rather than quantifying stress. Therefore, studies specifically looking at chronic stress may be necessary to give a more in-depth description of the stress response after treatment with serotonin to further the knowledge base on the effects of serotonin on the stress response in crayfish. To determine the relationship between chronic stress and serotonin, chronic stress will be induced via long-term nonylphenol exposure to crayfish, and then we will determine how these stress levels change after exposure to serotonin or a serotonin antagonist.

# Table of Contents

Title page	1
Approval	2
Acknowledgements	3
Abstract	4
Table of Contents	5

# **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Introduction	7
Purpose	9
Scope	10
Assumptions	10
Research Questions	10
Hypotheses	11
Significance	11

# **Chapter 2: Review of Literature**

Definition of Stress and Variations in the Stress Response	12
Mammalian Stress Models and Results	16
Crayfish as a Model	17
Crayfish Anatomy and Functional Morphology	19
Assessing Stress in Crayfish – Crustacean Hyperglycemic Hormone (cHH)	21
Assessing Stress in Crayfish – Anxiety-like Behaviors	23
Chronic Stress in Crayfish	24
Serotonin	25

Serotonin and its Effects on Stress and Anxiety27
Nonylphenol
Chapter 3: Methodology
Experimental Group Selection
Exposure Set-up
Drug Compound Selection
Drug Exposure Protocol
Experiment 1: Nonylphenol-Induced Stress Analysis
cHH Collection and Analysis
Experiment Group 2: Serotonin and Stress Analysis
Chapter 4: Results
cHH Analysis
Within-Group Comparison Results42
Negative Control Results (E1)42
Positive Control Results (E2)43
Serotonin Group Results (E3)43
Serotonin-Antagonist Results (E4)44
Between - Group Comparison Results45
At Baseline Results45
After Nonylphenol Exposure Results46
After Drug Exposure Results46
Chapter 5: Discussion47
Chapter 6: Bibliography

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### Introduction

Stress is due to a feeling of a perceived threat that causes mental or emotional tension, and usually anxiety. Stress can be behavioral, biological, or psychological, and every living species experiences a form of stress. One type of stress is acute stress, in which the stress only lasts a short period of time and is defined by the activation of the fight or flight response and further activation of the adrenomedullary and glucocorticoid pathways. The activation of these pathways in the fight or flight response leads to an increase in heart rate, ventilation, blood pressure, and gluconeogenesis. Another type of stress is chronic stress, in which the stress is consistent and may persist over a significant period of time. Though not universally defined, chronic stress is stress that persists for several weeks and may lead to low energy, decreased appetite, emotional withdrawal, or social isolation. Similar to the increases in glucose seen during an acute stress response, chronic stress can elicit chronic hyperglycemia. Repeated or chronic stress can lead to physical impacts on the body including chronic hypertension, emotional impacts such as anxiety or depression (McGonagle & Kessler, 1990), or a weakened immune system (Landmann et al., 1984). Therefore, discovering causes and potential inhibitors of stress is critical for maintaining proper health.

Recently, it has been shown that crayfish can function as a good neurophysiological model of stress and show stress that can be measured and observed (Abreu et al., 2020). They have less complex neurological systems than vertebrates, so mechanistic causes for stress can be more readily studied and understood. Crayfish have very basic neural development compared to humans but may still act as a good model to further understand human or other mammalian neural circuits (Perry & Baciadonna, 2017). Using crayfish to study neurophysiological

responses may also provide an evolutionary perspective into neurophysiological responses such as the stress responses of mammals, including humans, who may share similar underlying mechanisms for their stress responses (Fosset et al., 2015). Crustacean hyperglycemic hormone (cHH) and hemolymph glucose are both used to measure stress in crayfish, as they mimic the function of glucose in the human stress response. During acute stress, glucocorticoids will function to temporarily increase the levels of glucose within the body. Similarly, chronic stress can elicit hyperglycemic effects. One function of cHH is to raise hemolymph glucose during stress response (Lorenzon, et al., 2004). During a stress response, the body will increase glucose levels to prepare the body with readily available energy. Measuring cHH in the hemolymph will mimic the increase in glucose levels in the human stress response. The results of this study may prove useful for crayfish aquaculture management, either for food production or in a natural ecosystem. Moreover, elucidating chronic stress in crayfish may have translational value to other organisms that experience chronic stress, including humans.

One potential stressor for aquatic species such as crayfish would be nonylphenol, which is a hydrophobic chemical used in agricultural products such as fertilizers, laundry detergents, and several other products that can make their way into the water supply due to agricultural runoff or wastewater. Due to its hydrophobic nature and long half-life, nonylphenol can remain within the sediment for years. Nonylphenol is a known endocrine disruptor in aquatic species, which may lead to disrupted hormone signaling and altered estrogen levels (Kassotis et al., 2020). Decreased male fertility, feminization, and a decrease in survival for aquatic species may also result from increased nonylphenol levels in aquatic environments. Due to its presence in water, nonylphenol can be absorbed and ingested by aquatic organisms such as crayfish, and therefore moved into and along the food web as a result.

Serotonin is a monoamine neurotransmitter known to be associated with mood stabilization, sleep, feeding, and learning. Serotonin is well known to regulate mood in humans and is frequently used in drugs for treating depression. Specifically, serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are prescribed to individuals with depression to increase the amount of serotonin available. In humans, increased serotonin via SSRIs has been used to treat many other disorders such as generalized anxiety disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and panic disorders (Roberts et al., 2020). Previous research showing that serotonin will increase stress in crayfish has been performed (Fossat et al., 2014), but a majority of the research was conducted using acute stressors, therefore not examining the effects of serotonin on the chronic stress response. Many have also performed behavioral analyses to determine anxiety levels rather than quantifying stress. Therefore, studies looking at cHH and chronic stress may be necessary to give a more in-depth description of the stress response after exposure to serotonin to further the knowledge base on the effects of serotonin on the stress response in crayfish. This study will also provide insight into the effects of nonylphenol in crayfish, therefore potentially affecting the environment in which these crayfish live.

#### Purpose

Observing the effects of serotonin or a serotonin antagonist on chronic stress in crayfish as measured by cHH will provide insight into the effects of serotonin on chronic stress in invertebrates. Chronic stress in invertebrates may affect the environments in which they live and may apply to other species and potentially humans. This study will also demonstrate the impact of nonylphenol on the health of crayfish by determining the stress nonylphenol induces in these invertebrates, and how nonylphenol may affect the aquatic environment in which crayfish reside.

Scope

A total of 50 crayfish, 22 males and 28 females from the species *Faxonius* (formerly *Orconectes*) *spp*. were exposed to nonylphenol for 35 days. Therefore, the scope of this study is limited to *Faxonius spp*. species. After the chronic nonylphenol exposure, crayfish were exposed to serotonin, a serotonin antagonist (Serotonin-Cinanserin Hydrochloride), or saline control. Hemolymph draws were completed on the crayfish to determine cHH concentrations as a measurement of stress before experimental treatment and following experimental treatment. The exposure period was selected to observe the chronic effects that current research is lacking while remaining within the time restraints of the project.

#### Assumptions

We assumed that the crayfish in this study would be unstressed prior to stress exposure. We also assumed that a crayfish would show a characteristic stress response and that cHH would accurately measure stress. We assumed that measuring stress variables will elicit additional stress, but this stress will be minimal and equal among experimental and control groups.

#### Research Questions:

- 1. What are the effects of chronic nonylphenol exposure on crayfish stress as indicated by CHH concentrations within the hemolymph?
- 2. How does the treatment of nonylphenol-induced chronic stress with serotonin or a serotonin antagonist affect stress levels in crayfish?

#### Hypotheses:

- 1. Chronic nonylphenol exposure will elicit a chronic stress response as defined by high concentrations of cHH in the crayfish hemolymph.
- Treatment of nonylphenol-induced chronic stress with serotonin will increase stress levels experienced by crayfish as defined by high concentrations of cHH in the hemolymph.
- Treatment of nonylphenol-induced chronic stress with a serotonin antagonist will decrease the stress levels experienced by crayfish as defined by decreased concentrations of cHH in the hemolymph.

#### Significance

This study will provide insight into the impacts of chronic stress via nonylphenol exposure. It will also provide information on the stress response via the serotoninergic nervous system's role in modifying stress levels. This will also add to the current literature on the impact of serotonin on stress and may give insight into how serotonin affects stress in other species, including humans by providing a better understanding of the evolutionary basis of the stress response. Lastly, this study will demonstrate the effects that nonylphenol can have on the ecosystem. This will provide an insight into the effects that nonylphenol can have on aquatic organisms such as crayfish, and how it may affect other aquatic organisms within the food web.

#### **Chapter 2: Review of Literature**

#### Definition of Stress and Variations in the Stress Response

Stress is due to a feeling of a perceived threat that causes mental or emotional tension, and usually anxiety. The definition of stress is highly variable, whether it is biological, behavioral, or psychological (Fink, 2016). There are many different forms of stress, and individuals will respond in a variety of ways to different types of stress. One type of stress is acute stress, which involves temporary behavioral and physiological changes by activating two different hormonal pathways: the adrenomedullary pathway and the glucocorticoid pathway. These pathways are considered a part of the fight or flight response. The adrenomedullary pathway, which is typically activated within seconds of the stressor, involves epinephrine and norepinephrine, leading to increases in heart rate, blood pressure, and ventilation. The glucocorticoid pathway in which cortisol is released may impact the immune system and the reproductive system by suppressing body systems not needed in the fight or flight response, as well as raising glucose levels for readily available energy. (Fischer & Romero, 2019).

If acute stress can be defined by its impact on the body, then chronic stress can be defined in this same manner. Chronic stress can be defined as consistent stress that may persist over a significant period of time. According to Yale Medicine (2021), chronic stress is defined as a "consistent sense of feeling pressured and overwhelmed over a long period of time." Some of the symptoms of chronic stress noted in humans are low energy, change in social behavior (more isolation), change in appetite, and emotional withdrawal. If an individual was to experience stress and any combination of these symptoms for a significant period of time, it could be considered chronic stress. Overall, there is not a set amount of time that has been universally

agreed upon for defining chronic stress, but when stress lasts for several weeks and begins to lead to physiological problems is when it can be considered chronic stress.

Overall, previous research has shown that repeated or chronic stress can lead to physical impacts on the body including hypertension, emotional impacts such as anxiety or depression, or a weakened immune system. Specifically looking at animals, Fischer and Romero (2019) noted that the overexposure to stress that animals typically encounter in captivity can lead to many physiological problems, such as a decrease in reproduction, a loss of weight, and decreased immune system. This response is very similar to that of humans when chronically stressed. Acute stress functions to maintain homeostasis (a stable internal environment despite changes to the external environment), while chronic stress impacts allostasis, or the body's ability to maintain homeostasis through physiological or behavioral changes as the conditions change. During acute stress, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis functions to maintain homeostasis by releasing hormones such as cortisol. Cortisol will have several effects on the body including an increase in gluconeogenesis, temporarily increasing brain functioning as well as memory formation, and decreasing overall inflammation (figure 1). Cortisol will contribute to the negative feedback system of the HPA axis, ultimately bringing the body back to a homeostatic level. If stress is prolonged (i.e., chronic), these hormones will continuously be released, altering the HPA axis, and therefore potentially leading to a semi-permanent shift in the quantity of hormone released. This semi-permanent shift in the HPA axis to meet the demands of the body is allostasis. Chronic stress, as a result, can lead to increases in inflammation and an overall decrease in brain function as well as memory formation. To achieve homeostasis or allostasis, the acute stress response and chronic stress response both show an increase in gluconeogenesis. Acute stress increases blood pressure while chronic stress can lead to chronic hypertension.

Acute stress and chronic stress also both show an increase in energy mobilization or the shifting of the body's energy to meet the demands of the body (Shenassa et al., 2021). Therefore, a way we can define acute stress is based on the impacts on the body following hormonal changes

following the release of epinephrine, norepinephrine, and cortisol, such as increases in gluconeogenesis, blood pressure, and increase in memory formation. As a result, prolonged stress can lead to allosteric changes to these systems, and therefore chronic stress may lead to a decrease in brain function and memory formation and chronic



Figure 1: HPA axis response to acute vs. chronic stress (Shenassa et al., 2021)

hypertension. Importantly, both acute and chronic stress lead to an increase in gluconeogenesis.

Research performed by Singh et al., 1999 determined the variation in human stress responses to both physical and psychological stress. Individuals could be classified as high responders to stress if they demonstrated significant increases in adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) following a physical stressor, such as exercise. Those who showed a high response to physical stress also tended to show high responses to psychological stress as well. Those who had a low ACTH response to physical stress also tended to show low responses to psychological stress. This verifies that the stress response does vary on an individual basis.

Many potential factors may determine the variation in stress response per individual. One potential factor for variation in stress response is the binding of the stress hormone, such as

cortisol. Cortisol, a hormone that is frequently associated with stress (acute and chronic), is a steroid hormone that can be measured in blood or saliva. Steroid hormones are typically found bound to a protein such as a corticosteroid-binding globulin. Hormones that are bound are inactive due to the inability to penetrate cell membranes until they are unbound or free. Only when unbound can steroids bind to their target receptors and exert their effects such as antiinflammatory responses or increase glucose levels within the body. Normally only a small fraction of cortisol in the body is free and is considered active. Individuals will have variations in the number of receptor levels, indicating variations in levels of active cortisol in the body. (Foley, Kirschbaum, 2010). Further confirming this, previous research has shown that the cortisol response to psychosocial stress is correlated to their receptor level of corticosteroidbinding globulin which is a protein that binds cortisol (Kumsta et al, 2007). Cortisol stress responses can also depend on food intake, specifically glucose. Glucose is correlated with increases in cortisol response. Individuals with high levels of glucose may have higher stress responses as a result. Genetics may also play a role in stress responses as well, in that psychosocial stress and cortisol levels have been found to be heritable (Federenko et al., 2004). It has also been previously shown that stress exhaustion, which is a potential result of chronic stress leading to fatigue and a decrease in mental energy, affects the habituation of psychosocial stress, increasing the sensitivity to stress and showing a larger response as a result. Those who do not have exhaustion likely show habituation to the same stressor repeatedly, indicating a decreased stress response (Kudielka et al., 2006).

Repeated or chronic stress may lead to a variety of physical impairments in the body. Acute stress and glucocorticoids released due to stress have previously influenced cognitive functioning such as memory and attention. Specifically, the number of glucocorticoids released and the form

of cognition will vary in this relationship (Vedhara, 2000). There has been an association determined between stress and depressive symptoms, in that chronic stress is more strongly correlated with depressive systems than acute stress is. The emotional effects as a result of acute stressors may also be reduced if chronic stress is also experienced, suggesting that anticipating stress or reevaluating stress may reduce the overall stress response experienced (McGonagle & Kessler, 1990).

#### Mammalian Stress Models and Results

There are several different coping strategies that animals use to deal with stressors. One type of coping strategy is active coping, which includes confrontational interactions such as fighting or escaping. The other type of coping strategy is passive coping, in which the animal will decrease their responsiveness or immobility altogether (Kaey & Bandler, 2001). Kay and Bandler, 2001 looked further into these stress coping strategies of mammals to determine brain regions associated and effects on the body. They found the periaqueductal gray (PAG) was the region of activation as a result of stress, and the region of the PAG activated determined the coping strategy applied. They determined that both tachycardia and hypertension were induced by stress. Hypertension and tachycardia in the rostral PAG resulted in decreased blood flow to the skeletal muscles and viscera, but an increase in extracranial flow, and was found to induce the passive mechanism. The caudal PAG resulted in increased blood flow to the skeletal muscles and induced the active mechanism. This suggests that animals, including humans, have 2 distinct stress response mechanisms, active or passive, and the region of the PAG that is activated will not only determine the coping mechanism used, but also the type of stressor present (psychological or physical).

Animal models have also been used to determine the function of serotonin and stress. There are over 14 serotonin receptors that have been previously identified (Hannan and Hoyer, 2008). It has been previously determined that serotonin and serotonin receptors play a crucial role in regulating mood, anxiety, and cognition, and drugs that activate this receptor have led to antidepressant responses (Hannan & Hoyer, 2008). There has been a significant amount of research on stress responses in mice. Using a serotonin receptor (HT4R) knockout mice model, Karayol et al. 2021 discovered that losing this serotonin receptor in the hippocampal region of the brain was found to elevate anxiety. The mice that lacked this 5HT4R receptor also show a dysregulation of specific genes that play a role in plasticity as well as neural functioning. Specifically, they found that this 5HT4R receptor regulates both mood and anxiety in mice.

#### Crayfish as a Model

Recently, invertebrates have been shown to exhibit emotional responses that were thought to have only existed in humans and some mammals. Crayfish have very basic neural development compared to humans, and simpler ways to regulate emotions, yet they may still prove to be useful to further understand human or other mammalian neural circuits (Perry & Baciadonna, 2017). Using crayfish to study neurophysiological responses may provide an evolutionary perspective into the emotional responses of mammals and potentially humans who may also share these basic underlying mechanisms of emotion due to similar homologies between species (Fosset et al., 2015). Several aquatic species, such as crayfish or zebrafish, have been shown to have very similar homologies to mammals, both genetically and physiologically, and show behavioral and physiological responses to stress. In humans, several behaviors can be influenced by emotional states, and many of these behaviors are seen in many other species. These behaviors that can be influenced by emotional states include memory, decision-making,

attention, and many others. (Mathews and MacLeod, 1994; Lerner and Kelter, 2000; Baracchi et al., 2017). Zebrafish and crayfish have previously been shown to be sensitive to drugs that modulate stress as well (Abreu et al., 2020). Overall, previous studies have shown that crayfish are a good model for human emotion, and studying the basic pathways of emotion in these invertebrates may provide an evolutionary perspective into our human emotional responses. Crayfish have natural behaviors which they exhibit during social reactions, such as aggression or avoidance, which may provide strategies for studying anxiety and aggression in these species (Abreu et al., 2020). They also have been shown to exhibit anxiety effects as a result of psychological harassment such as retreating, much like humans or other mammals (Perry & Baciadonna, 2017).

Like humans and many mammals, invertebrates such as crayfish have been shown to have biogenic amines, such as serotonin, dopamine, and noradrenaline, and these biogenic amines have been proven to influence emotion (Bateson et at., 2011). Bateson et al., 2011 also discussed that the serotonin neural system may have been preserved evolutionarily to help regulate emotions, such as anxiety. Because of the potential preservation of this serotonin system, pharmacological manipulation of invertebrates may be a good model for human diseases or disorders that may be linked to emotion (Perry & Baciadonna, 2017). Crayfish are a great laboratory model for many other reasons as well, such as their high reproductive capabilities, easy laboratory maintenance, and manipulation and survival out of water for long-term manipulation (Abreu et al., 2020). Crayfish also experience bioaccumulation; in that they absorb chemicals such as pesticides at a rate faster than it is eliminated via catabolism or excretion. This suggests that crayfish may be a good model to observe the effects of agricultural chemicals on aquatic organisms.

#### Crayfish Anatomy and Functional Morphology

Crayfish are arthropods, and therefore possess an exoskeleton composed of chitin that functions to protect their internal anatomy. As an arthropod, crayfish will go through stages of molting and replace their exoskeleton as they grow (Duffy and Theil, 2007). As a decapod, crayfish possess 5 pairs of appendages. These appendages serve several functions including locomotion, food handling, sensation, or defense. Crayfish can shed these appendages in response to injury and regenerate these appendages (Gherardi et al., 2010). Like other crustaceans, crayfish possess an abdomen and a cephalothorax, or a joined head and thorax region covered by a carapace.

Within the cephalothorax region, decapods possess antennae as well as antennules that play a role in sensation (figure 2). Furthermore, the cephalothorax region also features moveable eyestalks on the anterior portion with a compound eye (Gherardi et al., 2010). The base of the eyestalk contains the sinus gland, or the master gland, which is similar to the pituitary gland in vertebrates (figure 3). The sinus gland in



Figure 2: Crayfish Anatomy (Gherardi et al., 2010)

crustaceans plays a large neuroendocrine role, as it produces many hormones that function to regulate molting, growth, and metabolism (Ruvina et al., In Prep). Similar to the pituitary gland



in humans, the sinus gland is responsible for synthesizing and secreting several effector hormones (hormones acting on target tissues) and glandotropic hormones (regulating the release of other hormones). A few of the hormones

Figure 3: Endocrine System in Crayfish (Gherardi et al., 2010)

that are released from the sinus gland are the crustacean hyperglycemic hormone (cHH), molt inhibiting hormone (MIH), or mandibular organ inhibiting hormone (MOIH). cHH functions to increase hemolymph glucose levels when in emergency situations or during periods of high levels of activity (Fanjul-Moles, 2006). Neurotransmitters such as GABA and serotonin are known to modulate the release of cHH, and cHH is thought to be regulated by a negative feedback system that is modulated by glucose levels within the hemolymph (Gherardi et al., 2010. This suggests that stress does illicit an increase in cHH, as well as an increase in glucose within the hemolymph of crayfish. Of note, the most common disruptor of the endocrine system of crayfish are environmental disruptors. Exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals such as pollutants or pesticides may cause significant complications to the health of crayfish as well as the environment in which they live (Rodriguez et al., 2007).

Crayfish have open circulatory systems and therefore use hemolymph to distribute nutrients and hormones rather than blood within a closed circulatory system. Hemolymph makes up about 27% of the body volume of crayfish, and its concentration varies based on activity, season, molting, or reproduction stage (Gherardi et al, 2010). Of note, the most variable substances within the hemolymph in crayfish are glucose and lipid concentrations.

#### Assessing Stress in Crayfish - Crustacean Hyperglycemic Hormone (cHH)

Using crayfish as a neurophysiological model, there are several ways in which stress can be assessed in these invertebrates. One common method of measuring stress is by measuring crustacean hyperglycemic hormone, or cHH. This endocrine neuropeptide is known to increase glycolysis for more free glucose (leading to hyperglycemia), lipolysis in the hepatopancreas, and increase glucose utilization (Li et al., 2017; Lin et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2020). Generally, cHH has been determined to be the hyperglycemic hormone. Previously determined was that cHH is released from the eyestalks, specifically the sinus gland of crustaceans, and the study performed by Escamilla-Chimal et al., 2002 further determined the location of secretion of cHH. Using juveniles and adult crayfish, they determined that both adults and juveniles secreted cHH, specifically that juveniles secrete higher amounts, possibly due to developmental stages. Both adult and juvenile crustaceans will release cHH from the eyestalk region, and they noted that cHH is a good measure of hyperglycemic effects.

A study performed by Chang et al, 1998 determined the function of cHH and its capability to measure stress. Using lobsters in their study, they specifically determined the cHH levels following a variety of acute environmental stressors such as emersion (hypoxia), high temperatures, and salinity alterations. In this study, lobsters were exposed to emersion (removal from water) for 4 hours and a significant increase in cHH was detected after only 20 minutes. For the thermal stress, lobsters were exposed to various temperatures, both elevated and lowered compared to the 13°C baseline temperature, which was maintained for 24 hours, at which they found a significant increase after 4 hours for elevated temperatures. Lobsters were exposed to 50% and 150% salinity stress for 6 hours, and there was a slightly significant increase in cHH after 2 hours. The effects of these stressors for a chronic period of time and their effects on cHH

were not measured. To further confirm that cHH is a good measure of stress, research performed by Lorenzon et al., 2004 looked at variations in cHH in the hemolymph produced by the eyestalk of shrimp exposed to stressors such as heavy metals (Copper and Mercury) and lipopolysaccharides. The cHH was measured immediately following exposure, after 0.5, 1, 2, and 3 hours. They found a significant link between exposure to metal or lipopolysaccharides and the release of cHH from the sinus gland into the hemolymph, which was then followed by an increase in blood glucose. This suggests that cHH can be measured directly from the sinus glands located in the eyestalks as well as in the hemolymph. The data showed a significant increase in the following lethal exposure to copper after 2 hours and remained high throughout the experiment. The level of cHH was not quantified following the 3-hour mark. They also found that as the metal concentration increased, so did the rate and amount of cHH released. It was determined in this study as well as several others that there is a basal level of cHH released prior to any stress. This overall shows that cHH has been proven to be released as a result of stress and can be measured in the hemolymph to determine the stress level of a crustacean by the amount of cHH released.

#### Assessing Stress in Crayfish – Anxiety-like Behaviors

Besides the quantitative assessment of stress using cHH or glucose in the hemolymph, another way previous studies analyzed stress was qualitatively via behavior assessments. One way to assess stress by observing behavior is to use a light/dark maze. This light/dark maze was pioneered by Fosset et al.,2015 and the research they performed to determine anxiety-like behavior in crayfish. Crayfish are known to hide in the dark when they sense danger, which can be seen as an anxiety-like behavior. Based on these natural behaviors, this research group designed a light/dark maze in which the maze was a plus shape with 2 dark protective arms and 2

light aversive arms. For their experiment, they stressed crayfish via an electric shock then placed them into the light/dark maze to observe where the crayfish would spend the most time. Crayfish that were stressed spent the most time in the dark arms, indicating anxiety-like behaviors. Unstressed crayfish spent time exploring both arms of the maze. Adding to this study, they injected the stressed crayfish with an anxiolytic and observed the crayfish exploring both light and dark arms, further indicating this light/dark maze to be effective in determining anxiety-like behavior in crayfish.

Further confirming this light/dark maze's accuracy in measuring anxiety-like behavior, a study performed by Bacque-Cazenave et al., 2017 used this maze to measure anxiety-like behavior following social harassment. In this study, crayfish were placed in tanks for 20 minutes and fought until there was a loser (escaped) and a winner (the harasser) identified. The winner usually would continue to display these aggressive actions even after winning. Then to determine anxiety, the crayfish were placed in the light/dark maze following the social interaction. It was found that losers expressed anxiety-like behaviors by remaining in the dark arms of the maze and this anxiety correlated with the stress intensity of the harassment they experienced. They were also injected with an anxiolytic and found a decrease in anxiety-like behavior. Together these studies suggest that the light/dark maze is a consistent way to measure behavioral anxiety following stress, allowing the researchers to observe acute stress response behaviors.

Based on the previous research by Kaey and Bandler (2001), there are several coping strategies that animals use when stressed, and therefore hiding behaviors may not be the only characteristic behavior of stress. One type of coping strategy is active coping mechanisms, which include confrontational interactions such as fighting or escaping. The other type of coping strategy is passive coping, in which the animal will decrease their responsiveness or immobility altogether. Therefore, due to the potential variations in stress responses, there are several variables that may be observed in crayfish when stressed, such as frequency of fights, tail flip escape responses, time spent immobile, responsiveness to olfactory stimuli, in addition to hiding behaviors.

#### Chronic Stress in Crayfish

Chronic stress was defined as stress that is consistent and may persist for a significant period of time and leads to physiological problems such as low energy, change in social behavior (more isolation), change in appetite, and emotional withdrawal. As previously discussed, stress exhaustion, which is a potential result of chronic stress, increases the sensitivity to stress and leads to a larger response as a result. (Kudielka et al., 2006). Crayfish have been shown to function as a model for studying chronic stress, which can be observed in the study performed by Bao, et al., 2020, in which chronic copper exposure was analyzed. In this study, the effects of both acute and sub-chronic toxicity of copper and its effects on respiratory metabolism as well as copper accumulation were evaluated. They determined that acute exposure was after 96 hours of exposure, and sub-chronic exposure was after 14 days. The results determined that both acute and chronic copper exposure leads to an inhibition of oxygen consumption rate as well as the rate of ammonium excretion. It was also determined that for copper accumulation, there was an accumulation of copper within the hepatopancreas and the muscles, which were highest after 14 days and were significantly more than the control crayfish had. This study suggests that like acute exposure to a stressor, chronic exposure also can have significant impacts on the body of these invertebrates. Research performed by Chabera et al., 2021 also focuses on chronic stress and its effects on crayfish. In this study, crayfish were exposed to chloridazon, a herbicide, or its metabolite, chloridazon-desphenyl. There was a 10-day acclimation period, followed by exposure to chloridazon or chloridazon-desphenyl at varying concentrations, with the exposure

persisting over 30 days. Following the 30-day exposure, the crayfish experienced a 15-day recovery period in which the crayfish were housed in chloridazon or chloridazon-desphenyl free environments. This study found that chronic exposure to chloridazon, as well as chloridazon-desphenyl, were associated with increased levels of glucose in the hemolymph, and increased glucose levels are known to be an indicator of stress. This study suggests that chronic exposure to a stressor, such as a herbicide, does elicit long-term effects on crayfish, such as increased glucose levels in the hemolymph. It also suggests that chronic stress can be manifested by the same changes in hemolymph glucose levels as acute stress, and likely increases in cHH as well, but this relationship has not been investigated.

#### Serotonin

Serotonin is a monoamine neurotransmitter known for its role in mood, cognition, social responses, and learning. It is thought to play a role in several behaviors, such as locomotion, increased aggression, sleep-wake cycles, feeding, mood, learning, and anxiety-like behavior. Serotonin is a complex neurotransmitter, with over 14 known sub receptors, most of which are inhibitory G-protein coupled receptors (Roberts et al., 2020). Because of this large variation in receptors and signaling networks, the effects of serotonin are very species-dependent, based on genetics, sociability, or even stress (Kiser et al., 2012). The environment in which the animal lives may also have effects of serotonin. In mammals, it has been determined that the dorsal raphe is active during uncertainty or surprise and that stress has been found to activate serotonin. A study by Carhart-Harris & Nutt, 2017 suggests that increasing serotonin under extreme conditions such as stress leads to an increase in plasticity and regulations of stress mechanisms to deal with these conditions. Another application of serotonin to stress is found in a study performed by Fosset et al., 2014, which suggests that there is species-specific avoidance, and this

study specifically indicates risk assessment in crayfish, which can be enhanced when injected with serotonin. This indicates that serotonin may play a role in risk assessment as well. So overall, the relationship between serotonin and stress is very complex due to many factors, specifically the vast number of sub-receptors for serotonin. It has been shown that serotonin does play a role in stress, uncertainty, and surprise, in that serotonin will increase behavior modifications, learning systems, and neuroendocrine function as a response to stressful situations.

Serotonin is also known for its role in treating depression. As previously mentioned, serotonin is known for its role in mood regulation. Serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), which block the reuptake of serotonin leading to an increase in serotonin within the synaptic cleft, are used frequently as a treatment for depression. There also seems to be a relationship between major depressive disorder and stress, in that many of the brain systems frequently involved in depression are commonly associated with regulation of mood, anxiety, fear, and stress (Price & Drevets, 2012). Together, this suggests that there may be overlap in mechanisms found in depression and stress, indicating that there may be a relationship between the 2 conditions, and this may be beneficial for the treatment of stress or depression.

#### Serotonin and its Effects on Stress and Anxiety

There has been a great amount of research discussing serotonin and its many effects on the body, including serotonin's function on mood and anxiety. Research performed by Karayol et al., 2021 used a serotonin receptor knockout mouse to determine the role of serotonin on mood and anxiety in mice. They determined that losing this serotonin receptor in specific brain regions, such as the hippocampus, led to not only an antidepressant response, but also increased anxiety

as well, and these regions typically showed decreased neuroplasticity and less excitability as a result. Furthermore, this study also evaluated the role of serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) on depression and anxiety. They found that chronic use of SSRIs led to increased anxiety (Baek et al. 2015), possibly due to decreased binding of these serotonin receptors and a decrease in cAMP second messenger signaling and therefore excitability (Vidal et al., 2009). This sprouts the idea that potentially long-term increases in serotonin may lead to increased anxiety as well.

A study performed by Fosset et al., 2015, who studied the role of serotonin as well as dopamine on the crayfish stress response, looked at anxiety-like behavior and serotonin in crayfish. They determined that serotonin concentration was associated with increased anxiety-like behavior, which was observed using a light/dark maze and determining the amount of time spent in the dark arms compared to the illuminated arms. The degree of anxiety-like behavior was found to be strictly associated with serotonin levels, and not dopamine levels. They believed this was due to differential metabolic pathways following stress, even though both dopamine and serotonin have similar biosynthesis. Importantly, this study shows the stress response in crayfish, much like mammals, involves neuroendocrine function. There are also serotonin antagonists, which function to decrease the action of serotonin by binding to serotonin receptors and preventing serotonin from binding or decreasing the amount of serotonin available, therefore inhibiting the effects of serotonin on the body. Therefore, if an increase in serotonin leads to anxiety-like behavior, then a serotonin antagonist will likely decrease this anxiety, but there is a lack of research in this area.

Research performed by Lorenzon et al., 2005 further looked at the role of biogenic amines, specifically serotonin and dopamine, to determine their effects on the hyperglycemic stress response. Looking specifically at the association between serotonin and stress in crayfish,

it has been determined that serotonin leads to increased release of cHH from the eyestalk into the hemolymph, which was then followed by hyperglycemia. This association was not seen after the dopamine injection, as it did not significantly alter cHH or glycemic levels. This research also looked at serotonin levels in the hemolymph following stress exposure and determined that more serotonin was released following an increase in stress intensity (determined using an increased concentration of copper contamination). Another interesting find in this study was that following copper contamination, there was an increase in serotonin from the eyestalk which induced both a cHH increase and hyperglycemia, but this was only seen in crayfish with intact eyestalks, indicating the significance of the eyestalk for cHH and glycemic levels. Building off this idea was a study by Escamilla-Chimal et al., 2002, which further confirmed that cHH is released specifically from the eyestalk and retinal cells and is primed by serotonin using both juvenile and adult crayfish. They found that increases in cHH following increases in serotonin were age-dependent, in that juveniles showed higher cHH secretion following serotonin than adults showed, indicating that serotonin sensitivity may be related to cell maturation and development.

#### Nonylphenol

Nonylphenol is an alkylphenol chemical that is known to be an endocrine disruptor, as its

structure is very similar to that of the endocrine hormone estradiol. It has been found in a variety of aquatic environments, mainly in the soil. Nonylphenol can get into the water supply through several routes such as agricultural runoff, pesticide runoff, fertilizers, livestock





feedings, or wastewater. Industrially, nonylphenol has been used by many industries as a nonionic surfactant and has been used in many products such as personal care products, cleaning products, metalworking, and several others (De Bruin, et al., 2019). Structurally, nonylphenol is composed of a phenol ring and a nine-carbon chain (figure 4), making it a very hydrophobic chemical with low solubility and is semi-volatile. Due to its hydrophobic nature, nonylphenol has a significantly longer half-life and will persist in the soil for years. Because of its long duration and toxicity to many organisms, determining nonylphenol's effects on the body, such as on the neurological, immunological, or reproductive system is essential. It is also crucial to monitor nonylphenol levels within the environment because aquatic organisms are consistently exposed to this chemical in their environment, and therefore have the potential to bioaccumulate within organisms (Mackay et al., 2017). As stated previously, nonylphenol is a known endocrine disrupter, which can therefore affect endocrine functioning such as hormone signaling \and lead to disease (Kassotis et al., 2020). These endocrine disruptors can also influence estrogen activity as well (Gingrich et al., 2020). Endocrine disruptors such as nonylphenol can be found in food, food packaging, medical supplies, and pesticides which then can make their way into the environment, ultimately leading to impacts not only on the environment but also on aquatic organisms and human health. (Khan et al., 2020).

There are several aversive effects of nonylphenol on both human health as well as on the environment and aquatic organisms. One aversive effect nonylphenol has on human health is cancer, in which nonylphenol exposure has been positively associated with cancer (Noorimotlagh et al., 2020). Specifically, this research found that nonylphenol induced breast cancer progression, and found a positive association between nonylphenol and many other types of cancer, including ovarian, uterine, pituitary, and testicular. This is likely due to nonylphenol being a known endocrine disruptor. Looking specifically at aquatic organisms, nonylphenol has been shown to lead to feminization, reduced male fertility, and a decrease in overall survival

among juveniles, even at low concentrations (Soares et al., 2008, Yang et al., 2020). Research performed by Hong et al., 2020 discussed the effects of nonylphenol on invertebrates, such as crayfish, and determined that nonylphenol has substantial acute toxicity to these invertebrates. Due to nonylphenol getting into the water supply, fish and other aquatic organisms take in this chemical, and bioaccumulation occurs, and therefore it gets passed along the food chain to other organisms.

Looking further into the effects of nonylphenol on crayfish, a study performed by Swift et al. (in press) determined how nonylphenol exposure affects the survival as well as orientation behavior of crayfish. Crayfish were exposed to varying concentrations as well as durations of nonylphenol. Half of the crayfish were exposed to nonylphenol for 24 hours which represented an acute exposure while the other half were exposed for 33 days, representing a long-term exposure. This study determined that even small doses of nonylphenol lead to the lethality of crayfish. At sublethal levels, nonylphenol exposure led to an impaired orientation to locate food. The crayfish were exposed to a lower concentration of nonylphenol during the long-term duration, as this would represent a runoff event. Similar to the acute exposure, they found that long-term exposure also led to disorientation, specifically at the beginning of the exposure, which would decrease as the exposure continued. Following the exposure periods, the crayfish experienced a 2-week recovery period of no nonylphenol exposure, and interestingly they found that the crayfish still showed a decrease in food-finding ability. Overall, this study indicates that even at moderately low nonylphenol concentrations this chemical can be lethal to crayfish, and at lower levels, nonylphenol can lead to both physiological and behavioral impairments.

As previously discussed, nonylphenol can lead to physiological and behavioral impairments, such as orientation behavior and survival of crayfish. These impairments likely will increase the stress experienced by a crayfish. Long-term exposure to sub-lethal levels of nonylphenol may therefore induce a chronic stress response in crayfish following an exposure. Environmentally, this is significant in that crayfish are a keystone species, and therefore many other species rely on the presence of crayfish for survival. Economically, the health of crayfish is essential for aquaculture. If the health of crayfish were to decline, this could lead to detriments in food production not only for crayfish but also for other species that consume crayfish. This research investigates the chronic stress response induced by long-term exposure to nonylphenol, and the effects of serotonin or a serotonin antagonist on this chronic stress response following nonylphenol exposure in crayfish.

#### **Chapter 3: Methodology**

#### Experimental Group Selection

A total of 50 crayfish, *Faxonius* (formerly *Orconectes*) *spp.*, consisting of 22 males and 28 females of varying adult ages and sizes, were collected from the Grand River watershed in Michigan and used for experimental trials. Immediately following collection, crayfish were separated based on sex and kept in large aquariums until assigned to a group. Crayfish were weighed, measured, and kept isolated in 1L tanks and fed a normalized diet of one rabbit pellet once a week. The average weight of the crayfish in the study was 6.95g and the average length of 6.17cm. The crayfish were kept at a constant temperature (22-23°C) to avoid thermal stress, and a light: dark cycle of 14 hr:10hr. Isolation tanks were cleaned weekly with 100% water changes. After separating the crayfish based on sex, crayfish were randomly assigned to one of four groups as shown in **table 1**, E1 began with 40 crayfish, E2 and E3 began with 15 crayfish, and E4 began with 14 crayfish, which are necessary due to nonylphenol's potential to cause death even below EPA acceptable levels (EPA, 2014; Swift et al., In Prep).

#### Exposure set-up

Nonylphenol was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Acetone was used as a vehicle due to nonylphenol's viscous and hydrophobic nature. The exterior of the pipette in which the nonylphenol was added to the acetone was cleaned with acetone to ensure no additional nonylphenol will be added to the solution. The negative control tanks received vehicle acetone with water into their tank due to acetone being added to the tanks receiving nonylphenol to keep the set-up consistent. The acetone concentration for all tanks was 2.0 mL per 1L tank. Previous

work has demonstrated that acetone at this level does not negatively impact crayfish behavior (Swift et al., In Prep).

Each group contained half males and half females, which were randomly assigned to a group as shown in **table 1**. The groups receiving nonylphenol received a sublethal dose of  $0.15 \,\mu$ l/L of nonylphenol mixed with 2.0 mL of acetone stock solution. This concentration of nonylphenol was determined to be a sub-lethal concentration that still led to effects by a previous study performed by Swift et al. (In Prep).

Group	Number of Crayfish*	Nonylphenol Exposure (Y/N)	Experimental Manipulation				
E1: Negative Control	23 (9 male, 14 female)	No	Ringer's Saline				
E2: Positive Control	7 (4male, 3 female)	Yes	Ringer's Saline				
E3: Experimental Group 1	11 (6 male, 5 female)	Yes	Serotonin				
E4: Experimental Group 2	9 (3 male, 6 female)	Yes	Serotonin-Cinanserin Hydrochloride				

Table 1: Experimental Groups: \*Group 1 began with 40 crayfish (20 male, 20 female), Group 2 began with 15 crayfish (8 male, 7 female), Group 3 began with 15 crayfish (8 male, 7 female), and group 4 began with 14 crayfish (7 male, 7 female). Groups 2-4 began with fewer crayfish due to time constraints and limited space within the lab. Numbers displayed in the table represent the number of crayfish in each group at the end of the experiments.

#### Drug Compound Selection

As described by the study performed by Reisinger, et al., 2021, each compound will be added to

the 1L isolation tanks at an environmentally realistic concentration of  $0.5 \mu g/L$ .

#### Drug Exposure Protocol

Serotonin or a serotonin antagonist was administered directly to the 1L isolation tanks where the crayfish were housed throughout the experiment to investigate the effects of serotonin on the chronic stress levels of crayfish following the nonylphenol exposure. The experimental group E3 crayfish received serotonin, while the experimental group E4 crayfish received serotonin-cinanserin hydrochloride, a serotonin antagonist. Ringer's saline was administered to crayfish which were randomly assigned to the control groups. Crayfish were treated with serotonin, serotonin-cinanserin hydrochloride, or saline at an environmentally realistic dose of  $0.5\mu$ g/L, per the study conducted by Reisinger et al, 2021.

To accurately add  $0.5\mu$ g/L to each isolation tank, a stock solution was produced for each drug (serotonin and serotonin-cinanserin hydrochloride). For the antagonist, serotonin-cinanserin hydrochloride, the quantity of 0.1mg of the drug was diluted to .100L, therefore 1mg of serotonin-cinanserin hydrochloride per liter would give 1000ug/L. This functions as the stock solution. From this stock solution, 0.5mL of the stock solution was added to the 1L isolation tanks, giving a final concentration of 0.5 $\mu$ g/L.

For the measurement of serotonin, the quantity of 25mg was diluted in 1 liter of water, therefore 25 mg/L, or  $25,000 \mu \text{g/L}$  as the stock solution. From this stock solution, 0.02 mL was added to the 1L isolation tanks, giving a final concentration of  $0.5 \mu \text{g/L}$ .

In previous studies (Huber and Delago 1998; Bacque-Cazenave et al. 2018) which examined the effects of injected serotonin on stress and behavior in crayfish, it was discovered that altering serotonin levels increased aggression and boldness. In the study performed by Reisinger et al., 2021 study, similar outcomes were observed in crayfish behavior when serotonin-modifying drugs were added to the water of the crayfish at an environmentally realistic concentration,

indicating that water exposure to the drug can produce outcomes similar to those of direct injection.

Because it takes time for a drug to accumulate within an organism, impacts from the drug are not immediately apparent, therefore, hemolymph samples were obtained 48 hours after the crayfish are delivered the drug via water (Reisinger et al., 2021).

#### Experiment 1: Nonylphenol-Induced Stress Analysis

To analyze the effects of nonylphenol on chronic stress in crayfish, crayfish were acclimated in isolation tanks for 1 week. Following acclimation, crayfish in the positive control tanks and the two experimental group tanks were exposed to  $0.15 \,\mu$ l/L nonylphenol with 2.0mL per 1L water. The negative control tanks were exposed to 2.0 mL of acetone per 1L water. Crayfish were held at these exposure levels for 35 consecutive days representing chronic exposure, as defined by the EPA (2014). Water was changed every 7 days to ensure constant concentrations of nonylphenol throughout the experiment, as well as to ensure a clean environment for the crayfish. After 35 days, crayfish were assessed for their stress level via hemolymph draws following chronic exposure to the stressor.

#### cHH Collection and Analysis

To determine cHH levels within the hemolymph of crayfish, 0.05mL hemolymph was extracted from the sterna sinus of the crayfish via a 25-gauge hypodermic needle as described by Caldari-Torres et al. (2018). Previous research by Lorenzon et al., 2004 determined that cHH is released via the sinus gland and released into the hemolymph, and therefore cHH can be measured via hemolymph. Due to the size of the crayfish and the availability of hemolymph, roughly 5

crayfish hemolymph samples per group were combined per vial for a total of 0.25mL

hemolymph per vial. Initial hemolymph draws were collected prior to nonylphenol exposure and

then again after 35 days, representing a chronic exposure to a stressor. Hemolymph was also collected after exposure serotonin, Serotonin-Cinanserin Hydrochloride, or Ringer's saline to determine the effects of these drugs on stress levels in crayfish. Levels of cHH were tested via an ELISA assay kit designed to measure the concentration of cHH



Figure 5: Standard Curve for CHH ELISA at an absorbance of 450nm.

within the hemolymph of crayfish. The cHH ELISA was run as a 48-well plate, in which 50µl of

hemolymph per vial was used per well. This cHH ELISA kit detected cHH concentrations





ranging from 31.2pg/ml – 1000pg/ml, and contained 6 standards (31.5 pg/ml, 62.5 pg/ml,125 pg/ml,250 pg/ml,500 pg/ml, and1000 pg/ml) to create a standard curve at an absorbance of 450nm, allowing us to assess the concentration of cHH per vial and therefore the average cHH concentration per crayfish (**figure 5**).

There was a total of 38 hemolymph samples, 6 standards, and 2 blank wells set up on the plate, with each sample running as a singlet (**figure 6**). The 50µl standards and 50µl hemolymph samples were loaded into the 48-well plate, and 100 µl of HRP-Conjugate reagent was added to each well except the 2 blank wells. After this addition of HRP-Conjugate reagent, the plate was covered with a closure plate membrane and incubated for 60 minutes at 37°C. Following the incubation period, the wells were washed 4 times, and then 50µl of chromogen solution A

and 50µl of chromogen solution B were added to each well, mixed gently, and incubated for 15 minutes at 37°C. After the incubation period, there were noticeable color changes from clear to blue in the wells, with the standards showing a proper gradient of blue coloring and each of the sample wells showing a blue gradient within the ranges of the standards. Then 50µl of stop



Figure 7: cHH ELISA plate after stop solution was added. A1-A2 were blanks, A3-A10 were standards.

solution was added to each well and there was another color change to yellow in each well (figure 7). The plate was read at an absorbance of 450nm. Statistical analysis was performed using Prism. A two-way ANOVA was performed to determine the statistical significance of the hemolymph samples. The alpha factor for the two-way ANOVA was  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

#### Experiment 2: Serotonin and Stress Analysis

To analyze the effects of serotonin on the chronic stress levels of crayfish, crayfish were exposed via water to serotonin, Serotonin-Cinanserin Hydrochloride, or Ringer's Saline following the 35 days of chronic nonylphenol exposure. After the remeasurement of stress variables following the initial nonylphenol exposure, crayfish were exposed to serotonin, Serotonin-Cinanserin Hydrochloride, or saline, and stress variables were remeasured after 48 hours.

#### **Chapter 4: Results**

#### cHH Analysis:

To determine the average cHH concentration per crayfish, each group had multiple vials of 0.25ml hemolymph, with each vial containing roughly 5 crayfish hemolymph samples (0.05ml per crayfish). The negative control group (E1), for example, at baseline contained 8 vials (4 female vials, 4 male vials), after nonylphenol exposure had 6 vials (4 female vials, 2 male vials), and after the drug exposure contained 6 vials (4 female vials, 2 male vials). Since there were multiple vials per group, and multiple crayfish per vial, the average cHH concentration per crayfish in each vial was calculated (Ex. vial 1 had a cHH concentration of 194.479pg/ml (determined by ELISA output as shown in **table 2**), and was a combination of 5 crayfish hemolymph samples, therefore the average cHH concentration per crayfish in that vial was 38.896pg/ml). Then we averaged the total vials per group at each time point to determine the concentration of cHH per crayfish, per group, as depicted in **table 6**.

Well ID	Name	Well	Conc/Dil	Blank 450	[Concentration]	Count	Mean	Std Dev	CV (%)
BLK		A1		0	<0.000	0	?????	?????	?????
		A2		0	<0.000				
SPL1		A11		0.135	194.479	1	194.479	?????	?????
SPL2		A12		0.158	231.882	1	231.882	?????	?????
SPL3		B1		0.179	267.114	1	267.114	?????	?????
SPL4		B2		0.17	252.087	1	252.087	?????	?????
SPL5		B3		0.158	233.051	1	233.051	?????	?????
SPL6		B4		0.174	259.767	1	259,767	?????	?????
SPL7		B5		0.122	171.604	1	171.604	?????	?????
SPL8		B6		0.1	134.869	1	134.869	?????	?????
SPL9		B7		0.13	185.797	1	185.797	?????	?????
SPL10		B8		0.098	132.531	1	132.531	?????	?????
SPL11		B9		0.122	171.771	1	171.771	?????	?????
SPL12		B10		0.156	228.543	1	228.543	?????	?????
SPL13		B11		0.16	235.556	1	235.556	?????	?????
SPL14		B12		0.151	220.361	1	220.361	?????	?????
SPL15		C1		0.153	223.533	1	223.533	?????	?????
SPL16		C2		0.178	265.779	1	265.779	?????	?????
SPL17		C3		0.125	177.114	1	177.114	?????	?????
SPL18		C4		0.139	199.823	1	199.823	?????	?????
SPL19		CS		0.099	134.368	1	134.368	?????	?????
SPL20		C6		0.122	171.938	1	171.938	?????	?????
SPL21		C7		0.101	137.039	1	137.039	?????	?????
SPL22		C8		0.115	161.251	1	161.251	?????	?????
SPL23		CB		0.184	276.131	1	276.131	?????	?????
SPL24		C10		0.188	282.476	1	282.476	?????	?????
SPL25		C11		0.105	144.386	1	144.386	?????	?????
SPL26		C12		0.119	167.93	1	167.93	?????	?????
SPL27		D1		0.138	199.489	1	199.489	?????	?????
SPL28		D2		0.123	173.44	1	173.44	?????	?????
SPL29		D3		0.211	320.547	1	320.547	?????	?????
SPL30		D4		0.085	110.824	1	110.824	?????	?????
SPL31		D5		0.152	222.031	1	222.031	?????	?????
SPL32		D6		0.169	250.584	1	250.584	?????	?????
SPL33		D7		0.116	163.088	1	163.088	?????	?????
SPL34		D8		0.11	151.399	1	151.399	?????	?????
SPL35		D9		0.122	172.272	1	172.272	?????	?????
SPL36		D10		0.138	198.988	1	198.988	?????	?????
SPL37		D11		0.132	188.468	1	188.468	?????	?????
SPL38		D12		0.162	239.73	1	239.73	?????	?????
STD1		A3	31.2	0.038	31.176	1	31.176	?????	?????
STD2		A4	62.5	0.06	69.08	2	84.191	21.371	25.384
		A5	62.5	0.078	99.303				
STD3		A6	125	0.087	113.83	1	113.83	?????	?????
STD4		A7	250	0.158	232.55	2	232.467	0.118	0.051
		A8	250	0.158	232.383				
STD5		AB	500	0.321	505.224	1	505.224	?????	?????
STD6		A10	1000	0.619	1001.813	1	1001.81	?????	?????

## Table 2: ELISA Assay Data

Table 2: Data generated from cHH ELISA Assay. Std 2 and Std 4 were run as duplicates, all others were run as singles on the 48 well plate. Concentration units are pg/ml.

2way ANOVA ANOVA results					
Table Analyzed	Avg. CHH Level (total)				
Two-way ANOVA	Ordinary				
Alpha	0.05				
Source of Variation	% of total variation	P value	P value summary	Significant?	
Interaction	33.69	<0.0001	****	Yes	
Row Factor	5.163	0.0014	**	Yes	
Column Factor	14.60	<0.0001	****	Yes	
ANOVA table	SS (Type III)	DF	MS	F (DFn, DFd)	P value
Interaction	21791	6	3632	F (6, 173) = 17.70	P<0.0001
Row Factor	3340	3	1113	F (3, 173) = 5.424	P=0.0014
Column Factor	9441	2	4721	F (2, 173) = 23.00	P<0.0001
Residual	35506	173	205.2		
Data summary					
Number of columns (Column Factor	3				
Number of rows (Row Factor)	4				
Number of values	185				

### Table 3: Results from Two-way ANOVA

Table 3: Two-way ANOVA results from analysis performed on Prism.

Number of families		4							1
Number of comparisons per family		3							ŀ
Alpha		0.05							
Tukey's multiple comparisons test	ı	Predicted (LS) mean diff.	95.00% CI of diff.	Below thre	shold?	Summary	Adjuste	d P Value	-
E1 (- Control)									+
Baseline vs. Post Nonyl Exp		13.84	5.463 to 22.21	Yes			0.0004		
Baseline vs. Post Drug Exp		5.743	-3.298 to 14.78	No		ns	0.2926		
Post Nonyl Exp vs. Post Drug Exp		-8.092	-17.48 to 1.294	No		ns	0.1062		-
E2 (+ Control)									t
Baseline vs. Post Nonvi Exp		-22.00	-37.22 to -6.784	Yes		••	0.0023		-
Baseline vs. Post Drug Exp		-39.11	-54.99 to -23.23	Yes			<0.0001		
Post Nonyl Exp vs. Post Drug Exp		-17.11	-34.63 to 0.4222	No		ns	0.0575		
E2 (Caustania)									
Es (serotonin)		7.445	20.00 10 0.212	No			0.4170		-
Baseline vs. Post Nonyi Exp		-7.240	-20.80 to 6.313	NO		ns .	0.41/9		-
Baseline vs. Post Drug Exp		-14.00	-28.73 10 -0.9833	tes			0.0326		
Post wonyi Exp vs. Post Drug Exp		+7.613	*21.70 10 6.024	NO		ns	0.4123		
E4 (Serotonin Ant)									1
Baseline vs. Post Nonyl Exp		-48.26	-62.73 to -33.79	Yes			<0.0001		-
Baseline vs. Post Drug Exp		-16.75	-31.22 to -2.283	Yes			0.0187		
Post Nonyl Exp vs. Post Drug Exp		31.50	15.54 to 47.47	Yes			<0.0001		
Tost details	Predicted (I S) mean	Predicted (I S) mean 2	Predicted (I S) mean	SE of diff	NI	M2		DE	
lest details	Predicted (ca) mean	r reacted (Es) means	Fredicied (23) mean	SE OF GIT.		114	ч	Ur	
E1 (- Control)									
Baseline vs. Post Nonyl Exp	54.00	40.17	13.84	3.541	36	30	5.525	173.0	
Baseline vs. Post Drug Exp	54.00	48.26	5,743	3.824	36	23	2.124	173.0	-
Post Nonyl Exp vs. Post Drug Exp	40.17	48.26	-8.092	3.970	30	23	2.882	173.0	
E2 (+ Control)									
Baseline vs. Post Nonyl Exp	24.41	46.41	-22.00	6.438	13	8	4.834	173.0	
Baseline vs. Post Drug Exp	24.41	63.51	-39.11	6.716	13	7	8.235	173.0	
Post Nonyl Exp vs. Post Drug Exp	46.41	63.51	-17.11	7.414	8	7	3.263	173.0	
E3 (Serotonin)									
Baseline vs. Post Nonyl Exp	28.70	35.95	-7.245	5.735	13	12	1.787	173.0	
Baseline vs. Post Drug Exp	28.70	43.56	-14.86	5.869	13	11	3.580	173.0	
Post Nonyl Exp vs. Post Drug Exp	35.95	43.56	-7.613	5.980	12	11	1.800	173.0	
E4 (Serotonin Ant)									
Baseline vs. Post Nonvi Em	21.31	69.56	-48.26	6.121	14	9	11.15	173.0	
Baseline vs. Post Drug Exp	21.31	38.06	-16.75	6.121	14	9	3.871	173.0	
	3063	2010/2	100000	1 1 1 1 1 A	1		92345	1000	

Table 4: Within-group comparison using the 2-way ANOVA performed on Prism. Determined differences within each group at the 3 different time intervals in which hemolymph was drawn. Concentration units are pg/ml.

Table 5: Between Group Result
-------------------------------

Within each column, compare rows (simple eff	lects within columns	2 DO									
Number of families		3									
Number of comparisons per family		6									
Alpha		0.05									
Tukey's multiple comparisons test		Predicted	d (LS) mean diff.	95.00	% CI of diff.	Below th	reshold?	Summ	ary	Adjuste	d P Valu
Pasalina											
E1 (- Control) us E2 (+ Control)		29.60		17 57	to 41.62	Vaia				+0.0001	
E1 (- Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)		25.30		13 27	to 37 32	Ves				<0.0001	
E1 (- Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)		32 70		20.99	to 44.40	Vac				<0.0001	
E2 (+ Control) vs. E3 (Sentonin)		4 298		.18.85	8 to 10 28	No		-		0.8701	
E2 (+ Control) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)		3.099		-11 22	2 10 17 41	No				0.9432	
E3 (Serotonin) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)		7.397		-6.917	7 10 21.71	No		ns		0.5385	
Post Nonyl Exp											
E1 (- Control) vs. E2 (+ Control) E1 (- Control) vs. E3 (Sectoria)		-6.242		-21.03	3 to 8.546	No		ns		0.6931	
E1 (- Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)		4.218		-8.476	5 10 16.91	No		ns.		0.8244	
E1 (- Control) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)		-29.40		-43.52	2 to -15.27	Yes				<0.0001	
E2 (+ Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)		10.46		-6.503	5 10 27.42	NO		ns		0.3815	
Ez (+ Control) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)		-23.15		-41.21	1 10 -5.095	Yes				0.0059	
E3 (Serotonin) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)		-33.61		-50.00	010-17.23	Yes		1000		-0.0001	
Post Drug Exp											
E1 (- Control) vs. E2 (+ Control)		-15.26		-31.30	0 to 0.7865	No	ns		s 0.0688		
E1 (- Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)		4.697		-8.927 to 18.32 No		No	ns			0.8078	
E1 (- Control) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)		10.20	0.20		-4.413 to 24.81 No		ns			0.2718	
E2 (+ Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)		19.95	9.95		1.984 to 37.92 Yes		1)			0.0230	
E2 (+ Control) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)		25.46	46		6.726 to 44.18 Yes					0.0030	
E3 (Serotonin) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)		5.502	1	-11.20	11.20 to 22.21 No			ns		0.8282	
Test details	Predicted (LS	5) mean 1	Predicted (LS) r	mean 2 Predicted (LS)		i) mean diff.	SE of diff.	N1	N2	q	DF
Baseline											
E1 (- Control) vs. E2 (+ Control)	54.00		24.41	29.60			4.636	36	13	9.029	173.0
E1 (- Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)	54.00		28.70	25.30			4.636	36	13	7.718	173.0
E1 (- Control) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)	54.00		21.31	32.70			4.512	36	14	10.25	173.0
E2 (+ Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)	24.41		28.70		-4.298		5.619	13	13	1.082	173.0
E2 (+ Control) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)	24.41		21.31		3.099		5.518	13	14	0.7943	173.0
E3 (Serotonin) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)	28.70		21.31		7.397		5.518	13	14	1.896	173.0
Post Nonyl Exp											
E1 (- Control) vs. E2 (+ Control)	40.17		46.41		-6.242		5.700	30	8	1.549	173.0
E1 (- Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)	40.17		35.95		4.218	4.893		30	12	1.219	173.0
E1 (- Control) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)	40.17		69.56		-29.40	5.445		30	9	7.635	173.0
E2 (+ Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)	46.41		35.95		10.46		6.539	8	12	2.262	173.0
E2 (+ Control) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)	46.41		69.56	-23.15			6.961	8	9	4.704	173.0
E3 (Serotonin) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)	35.95		69.56		-33.61		6.317	12	9	7.525	173.0
Post Drug Exp											
E1 (- Control) vs. E2 (+ Control)	48.26		63.51		-15.26		6.184	23	7	3.489	173.0
E1 (- Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)	48.26		43.56		4.697		5.252	23	11	1.265	173.0
E1 (- Control) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)	48.26		38.06		10.20		5.633	23	9	2.561	173.0
E2 (+ Control) vs. E3 (Serotonin)	63.51		43.56		19.95		6.927	7	11	4.074	173.0
	100 C 100		and and		201221					1	170.0
E2 (+ Control) vs. E4 (Serotonin Ant)	63.51		38.06		25.46		7.220	1	9	4.986	173.0

Table 5: Between-group comparison using the 2-way ANOVA performed on Prism. Determined differences between each group at the 3 different time intervals in which hemolymph was drawn. Concentration units are pg/ml.

Table 6: Average cHH Cor	centrations
--------------------------	-------------

	Table format:	Group A Baseline			Group B Post Nonylphenol Exposure			Group C Post Drug Exposure		
	Grouped									
4	×	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N
	E1 (- Control)	54.001	11.236	36	40.166	12.554	30	48.258	15.928	23
	E2 (+ Control)	24.405	3.927	13	46.408	4.723	8	63.514	23.188	7
	E3 (Serotonin)	28.703	0.289	13	35.948	24.716	12	43.561	9.271	11
	E4 (Serotonin Ant	21.306	2.446	14	69.562	31.795	9	38.059	14.241	9

**Table 6:** The mean cHH concentration (pg/ml) in the hemolymph per crayfish in each of the 4 groups, as well as at the 3 time intervals in which hemolymph draws were completed.



#### Avg. cHH Concentration (total) - Within Groups

Figure 8: Within-group comparison of the average cHH concentration within the hemolymph for each of the 4 groups.

#### E1: Within-group comparison (Negative control):

When analyzing the average cHH concentration within the negative control group to establish a baseline, it was found that the mean concentration of cHH in the hemolymph per crayfish was 40.17pg/ml ( $\pm 12.55$ pg/ml) following the nonylphenol exposure period, which was significantly (p<0.05) lower than the mean concentration at baseline 54.00pg/ml ( $\pm 11.24$ pg/ml). Though statistically this result was significant, there were large error bars as noted. Also, this group was the first group to receive hemolymph draws, so therefore additional stress may have been caused at baseline due to hemolymph draw errors or redraws. As the negative control, this group did not receive nonylphenol during the exposure period and hence, no stress exposure. Importantly, this overall depicts no significant changes in cHH levels, as expected for the negative control. This suggests our negative control group accurately depicted the stress level of crayfish with no chronic exposure to a stressor (**figure 8**).

#### *E2: Within-group comparison (positive control):*

When analyzing the average cHH concentration within the positive control group to establish the effect of chronic nonylphenol exposure on stress, we found that the mean concentration of cHH in the hemolymph was 46.41pg/ml ( $\pm$  4.72pg/ml) following the nonylphenol exposure period, which is significantly higher (p<0.05) than the mean concentration of cHH in the hemolymph at baseline which was 24.41pg/ml ( $\pm$ 3.93pg/ml). As the positive control, this group did receive nonylphenol at an environmentally realistic concentration of 0.15 µl/L, therefore, this indicates that chronic nonylphenol exposure did increase the stress experienced by the crayfish. Within this group, it was also found that the mean concentration of cHH in the hemolymph for the post-drug exposure was 63.51pg/ml ( $\pm$ 23.19pg/ml), which is significantly higher (p<0.0001) than the mean cHH concentration at baseline which was 24.41pg/ml ( $\pm$  3.93pg/ml). As the positive control, this group did not receive any exposure to a drug, just continuous nonylphenol exposure, therefore, nonylphenol was still present and may have led to this increase in cHH concentration/stress for the crayfish in this group during this additional period of exposure to the stressor (**figure 8**).

#### *E3:* Within-group comparison (serotonin):

When analyzing the average cHH concentration within the group receiving the serotonin exposure following the stress exposure, we found that the mean concentration of cHH in the hemolymph following the exposure to serotonin was 43.56pg/ml ( $\pm$ 9.27pg/ml), which was significantly higher(p<0.05) than the mean cHH concentration of 28.70pg/ml ( $\pm$  0.29) at baseline. Therefore, we suspect that serotonin may have led to this increase in stress experienced

by the crayfish following the exposure to serotonin. Due to the limited number of crayfish and lack of significant data produced for this group, this warrants more trials in the future to further investigate this relationship (**figure 8**).

#### *E4:* Within-group comparison (serotonin antagonist):

When analyzing the average cHH concentration within the group receiving the serotonin antagonist exposure, we found that the mean concentration of cHH in the hemolymph following the nonylphenol exposure was  $69.56 \text{pg/ml} (\pm 31.80 \text{pg/ml})$ , which was significantly higher (p<0.0001) than the mean cHH concentration within the hemolymph at baseline which was 21.31pg/ml (±2.45pg/ml). This further confirms our findings that chronic nonylphenol exposure increases the stress experienced by the crayfish. We also found that the mean concentration of cHH in the hemolymph following the exposure to the serotonin antagonist was 38.06pg/ml  $(\pm 14.24 \text{ pg/ml})$ , which was significantly higher (p<0.05) than the mean cHH concentration in the hemolymph at baseline, which was 21.31 pg/ml ( $\pm 2.45$  pg/ml). Lastly, the mean concentration of cHH in the hemolymph following the serotonin antagonist exposure was 38.06pg/ml  $(\pm 14.24 \text{ pg/ml})$ , which was significantly lower (p<0.0001) than the mean concentration of cHH in the hemolymph following the exposure to nonylphenol, which was 69.56pg./ml (31.80pg/ml). Importantly, the concentration of cHH was significantly lower after the exposure to the serotonin antagonist following the chronic stress period with nonylphenol, which suggests that nonylphenol increases stress experienced by the crayfish and that the serotonin antagonist led to a dramatic drop in these stress levels (figure 8).



Avg. cHH Concentration (total) - Between Groups

Figure 9: Between-group comparison of the average cHH concentration within the hemolymph for each of the 4 groups at the 3 different time intervals.

#### Between-group comparison - Baseline mean cHH concentrations:

To establish if there were any differences in cHH concentrations at the baseline between groups, we found the mean concentration at baseline for the negative control (E1) was 54.00pg/ml ( $\pm$ 11.24pg/ml), which was significantly higher (p<0.0001, p<0.0001 P<0.0001) than the mean concentration of cHH in the hemolymph for the positive control group (24.41  $\pm$ 3.93pg/ml), serotonin group (28.41  $\pm$ 0.289pg/ml), and the serotonin antagonist group ( $\pm$ 21.31pg/ml). This indicates that the negative control group experienced higher levels of stress prior to beginning the experimental manipulations. This may be due to the increased number of crayfish in this group compared to the other groups. The negative control group had 36 crayfish at the first hemolymph draw, while the remaining three groups had around 14/15 crayfish per group. As

mentioned above, this higher level of cHH at the baseline for this group may also be due to our handling of crayfish during hemolymph draws, as this was the first group to receive draws (figure 9).

Between group comparison – Post Nonylphenol Exposure mean cHH concentrations: Following the chronic exposure to nonylphenol, the mean concentration of cHH for the serotonin antagonist group was 69.56pg/ml ( $\pm$  31.79pg/ml), which was significantly higher (p<0.0001, p<0.05, p<0.0001) than the mean cHH concentration for the negative control group (40.17pg/ml  $\pm$  12.55pg/ml), positive control group (46.41pg/ml  $\pm$ 4.72pg/ml), and serotonin group (35.95pg/ml $\pm$ 24.72pg/ml). This suggests that the serotonin antagonist group experienced a higher level of stress following the nonylphenol exposure compared to the other groups, which is expected when compared to the negative control group. This increase in cHH concentrations for this group compared to the other 2 groups who received nonylphenol may be due to experimental manipulation error when adding the nonylphenol (**figure 9**).

#### *Between group comparison – Post Drug Exposure mean cHH concentrations:*

Following the drug exposure period, the mean concentration of cHH for the positive control group was 63.51pg/ml (±23.19pg/ml), which was significantly higher (p<0.05, p<0.05) than the mean concentration of cHH for the group receiving serotonin (43.56pg/ml ± 9.27pg/ml) and for the group receiving the serotonin antagonist (38.06pg/ml ± 14.24pg/ml). This further confirms that nonylphenol increases the cHH concentration, and therefore stress, experienced by the crayfish (**figure 9**).

#### **Chapter 5: Discussion**

Overall, our results indicate that chronic exposure to nonylphenol did act as a chronic stressor to crayfish, which was confirmed by the increase in cHH within the hemolymph for the crayfish exposed to nonylphenol that was not seen in the negative control group. This was mainly observed in the positive control group, which received nonylphenol exposure and no drug exposure. This confirms our 1st hypothesis that nonylphenol did elicit a chronic stress response in crayfish. Crayfish were exposed to nonylphenol at a concentration of 0.15 µl/L for 35 days, representing a chronic low level, as described by Swift et al., in press. As previously discussed, nonylphenol is a known endocrine disruptor (Kassotis et al., 2020), and has led to feminization, reduced male fertility, and overall survival (Soares et al., 2008, Yang et al., 2020), as well as other physiological and behavioral impairments such as food finding ability (Swift et al., in press) in crayfish. Adding together all of these potential effects on the health of crayfish, it is expected that nonylphenol would increase stress levels experienced by crayfish, especially for long-term exposure to a stressor, which is typically what would be found in our environment as agricultural runoff. These results suggest that as an environmental pollutant, nonylphenol may increase the stress and therefore the overall health of crayfish within an environment when exposed to this chemical chronically. The health of crayfish is an important part of the environment that surrounds us, as crayfish are a keystone species, and therefore, many species rely upon them for survival. Chronic stress in crayfish as a result of continuous nonylphenol exposure may also affect aquaculture in our community, as chronic stress may lead to reduced overall health in crayfish captured for food supply. Prolonged periods of stress can result in a decrease in ability to cope with stress, as they are overwhelming their physiological systems (Selye, 1975, Schreck & Tort, 2016). Our study confirms this expectation in that chronic

exposure to nonylphenol elicited chronic stress in crayfish as determined by the elevated cHH levels following 35-day exposure to nonylphenol. As a future analysis of this study, we would like to use the hemolymph samples taken to determine the concentration of nonylphenol within the crayfish hemolymph to determine the relationship between the bioaccumulation of nonylphenol within the hemolymph with the level of cHH and therefore stress experienced by the crayfish.

When determining the effects of serotonin and a serotonin antagonist on chronic stress, we found that serotonin tended to increase stress levels, while the antagonist decreased stress levels following chronic exposure to stress. Previous research has confirmed that serotonin increases anxiety-like behavior (Fosset et al., 2014), and that serotonin increases the release of cHH from the eyestalk of crayfish, and ultimately into the hemolymph (Escamilla-Chimal et al., 2002), but most previous studies looked specifically at acute stressors such as an electric shock (Fosset et al.,2015) or hours of stress exposure (Lorenzon et al., 2004, Chang et al, 1998), therefore, there was a lack in data looking into chronic stress. Research performed by Chabera et al., 2021 did investigate the relationship between chronic exposure to stress via an herbicide and glucose levels and did find an increase in glucose levels following acute and chronic stress exposure, however, they did not investigate the effects on cHH levels, nor did they investigate ways to reduce this stress. Our study represents a preliminary study investigating the relationship between serotonin and chronic stress in crayfish, and, we did find that serotonin tended to increase chronic stress levels while the serotonin antagonist tended to decrease chronic stress levels, confirming our 2nd and 3rd hypotheses that chronic stress levels can be modulated by serotonin agonists and antagonists. This relationship is to be further investigated, as our number of crayfish per group was relatively small, and therefore warrants further investigation into these

relationships. Also, our study allowed us to further investigate the effects of serotonin on chronic stress, which may be applicable to humans, as crayfish have evolutionarily basic neurological development (Perry & Baciadonna, 2017), and may provide an evolutionary perspective into the emotional responses of mammals and potentially humans who may also share these basic underlying mechanisms (Fosset et al., 2015).

There are also several limitations to this study that need to be considered as well. Due to difficulties with measurements for our addition of drugs, crayfish in groups E2, E3, and E4 received an additional week of nonylphenol exposure compared to the "exposure" period for E1, which did not receive nonylphenol during this exposure period (negative control). The chronic exposure period for E1 was 28 days, while the chronic exposure period for E2, E3, and E4 was 35 days.

When performing the final hemolymph draws following the drug exposure, E1 crayfish hemolymph draws were completed 24 hours after the chronic exposure period was completed. Due to weather and access to the lab, final hemolymph draws for E2, E3, and E4 were completed 48 hours following the chronic exposure period.

Due to crayfish mortality, each group contained fewer crayfish than originally anticipated. Originally, there were to be 40 crayfish per group, and due to the inevitable mortality throughout the study, there would still be a significant number per group. Due to space in the lab, the mortality of crayfish, and time constraints, there was a lower than anticipated number of crayfish per group. The E1 group was the only group that began with 40 crayfish. The E2 and E3 group began with 15 crayfish, and E4 began with 14 crayfish. With the lower number of crayfish used in this study, further investigation into the relationships discussed between chronic stress and serotonin using a greater number of crayfish to confirm these relationships should be performed.

In regard to the future direction of this study, glucose levels can be analyzed using the hemolymph samples taken during this study via glucose strips and a glucose meter, or a high-sensitivity glucose assay kit to assess the relationship between cHH, glucose, and stress. The function of cHH, or crustacean hyperglycemic hormone, is to increase glucose levels within the hemolymph (Fanjul-Moles, 2006), and therefore glucose levels increase as cHH levels increase. Previous research by Chang et al., 1998 as well as Lorenzon et al., 2004 determined that following acute stress, cHH levels increase, as did hemolymph glucose levels. Therefore, measuring glucose levels at the time points within this study that cHH levels were measured could further confirm the relationship between cHH and glucose, as well as confirm the actions of nonylphenol, serotonin, and serotonin antagonists on chronic stress.

Another future direction for this study would be further analysis of the data based on sex of the crayfish. Each group was composed of half female and half male, and while performing hemolymph draws, our samples were separated by sex. Therefore, our samples have the capability to be further analyzed to investigate if there is a relationship between stress, the modulation of stress by serotonin, and the sex of crayfish.

Lastly, as a future direction, we could investigate the addition of pharmaceutical runoff on stress and ultimately the environment as well. Direct addition of serotonin and serotonin-cinanserin hydrochloride to the water in the isolation tanks has been demonstrated to provide results that are comparable to those of drug injection (Reisinger et al., 2021). This exposure to the drugs via water mimics that of pharmaceutical runoff that ends up in aquatic habitats (Kolpin et al. 2002, Writer et al. 2013), therefore, our study also could allow us to investigate the effects of pharmaceutical runoff on crayfish stress levels, as well as the environment.

#### **Chapter 6: Bibliography**

Abreu, M. S. de, Maximino, C., Banha, F., Anastácio, P. M., Demin, K. A., Kalueff, A. V., & Soares, M. C. (2020). Emotional behavior in aquatic organisms? Lessons from crayfish and zebrafish. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 98(5), 764–779.

Association, M. N. (2017, January 27). Keystone species. Michigan Nature Association.

- Bacqué-Cazenave, J., Bharatiya, R., Barrière, G., Delbecque, J.-P., Bouguiyoud, N., Di Giovanni, G., Cattaert, D., & De Deurwaerdère, P. (2020). Serotonin in Animal Cognition and Behavior. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(5), 1649.
- Bacqué-Cazenave, J., Cattaert, D., Delbecque, J.-P., & Fossat, P. (2017). Social harassment induces anxiety-like behaviour in crayfish. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), Article 1.
- Baek, I.-S., Park, J.-Y., & Han, P.-L. (2015). Chronic Antidepressant Treatment in Normal Mice Induces Anxiety and Impairs Stress-coping Ability. *Experimental Neurobiology*, 24(2), 156–168.
- Bao, J., Xing, Y., Feng, C., Kou, S., Jiang, H., & Li, X. (2020). Acute and sub-chronic effects of copper on survival, respiratory metabolism, and metal accumulation in Cambaroides dauricus. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 16700.
- Baracchi, D., Lihoreau, M., & Giurfa, M. (2017a). Do Insects Have Emotions? Some Insights from Bumble Bees. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 11.
- Baracchi, D., Lihoreau, M., & Giurfa, M. (2017b). Do Insects Have Emotions? Some Insights from Bumble Bees. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 11.
- Bateson, M., Desire, S., Gartside, S. E., & Wright, G. A. (2011). Agitated honeybees exhibit pessimistic cognitive biases. *Current Biology: CB*, 21(12), 1070–1073.
- Bergman, D. A., & Moore, P. A. (2020). Serotonergic-linked alterations of aggression of the crayfish. *Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology*, *53*(5–6), 215–229.
- Bhandari, G., Bagheri, A. R., Bhatt, P., & Bilal, M. (2021a). Occurrence, potential ecological risks, and degradation of endocrine disrupter, nonylphenol, from the aqueous environment. *Chemosphere*, 275, 130013.
- Bhandari, G., Bagheri, A. R., Bhatt, P., & Bilal, M. (2021b). Occurrence, potential ecological risks, and degradation of endocrine disrupter, nonylphenol, from the aqueous environment. *Chemosphere*, 275, 130013.
- Biochemical and functional aspects of crustacean hyperglycemic hormone in decapod crustaceans: Review and update—ScienceDirect. (n.d.). Retrieved February 11, 2022.

- Blanchard, R. J., McKittrick, C. R., & Blanchard, D. C. (2001). Animal models of social stress: Effects on behavior and brain neurochemical systems. *Physiology & Behavior*, 73(3), 261–271.
- Bockaert, J., Claeysen, S., Compan, V., & Dumuis, A. (2008). 5-HT4 receptors: History, molecular pharmacology and brain functions. *Neuropharmacology*, 55(6), 922–931.
- Caldari-Torres, C., Banta-Long, W., Bruss, A., Choi, E., Fiegel, H., Jollis, M. S., Ly, S., & Viswanathan, S. (2018). Hemolymph Glucose Levels as a Measure of Crayfish Stress: A Methodology Using a Human Glucometer. *The FASEB Journal*, 32(S1), lb224–lb224.
- Chabera, J., Stara, A., Kubec, J., Buric, M., Zuskova, E., Kouba, A., & Velisek, J. (2021). The effect of chronic exposure to chloridazon and its degradation product chloridazon-desphenyl on signal crayfish Pacifastacus leniusculus. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 208, 111645.
- CHANG, E. S., CHANG, S. A., KELLER, R., REDDY, P. S., SNYDER, M. J., & SPEES, J. L. (1999). Quantification of Stress in Lobsters: Crustacean Hyperglycemic Hormone, Stress Proteins, and Gene Expression1. *American Zoologist*, *39*(3), 487–495.
- Chang, E. S., Keller, R., & Chang, S. A. (1998). Quantification of Crustacean Hyperglycemic Hormone by ELISA in Hemolymph of the Lobster, Homarus americanus, Following Various Stresses. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 111(3), 359–366.
- Chen, H.-Y., Toullec, J.-Y., & Lee, C.-Y. (2020). The Crustacean Hyperglycemic Hormone Superfamily: Progress Made in the Past Decade. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 11, 769.
- Crandall, K. A., & Buhay, J. E. (2008). Global diversity of crayfish (Astacidae, Cambaridae, and Parastacidae—Decapoda) in freshwater. In E. V. Balian, C. Lévêque, H. Segers, & K. Martens (Eds.), *Freshwater Animal Diversity Assessment* (pp. 295–301). Springer Netherlands.
- de Bruin, W., Kritzinger, Q., Bornman, R., & Korsten, L. (2019). Occurrence, fate and toxic effects of the industrial endocrine disrupter, nonylphenol, on plants—A review. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, *181*, 419–427.
- Escamilla-Chimal, E. G., Hiriart, M., Sánchez-Soto, Ma. C., & Fanjul-Moles, M. L. (2002). Serotonin Modulation of cHH Secretion by Isolated Cells of the Crayfish Retina and Optic Lobe. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 125(2), 283–290.
- Fischer, C. P., & Romero, L. M. (2019). Chronic captivity stress in wild animals is highly species-specific. *Conservation Physiology*, 7(1), coz093.
- Foley, P., & Kirschbaum, C. (2010). Human hypothalamus–pituitary–adrenal axis responses to acute psychosocial stress in laboratory settings. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35(1), 91–96.

- Fossat, P., Bacqué-Cazenave, J., Delbecque, J.-P., & Cattaert, D. (2015). Measuring Anxiety-like Behavior in Crayfish by Using a Sub Aquatic Dark-light Plus Maze. *Bio-Protocol*, *5*(3), e1396–e1396.
- Fossat, P., Bacqué-Cazenave, J., Deurwaerdère, P. D., Cattaert, D., & Delbecque, J.-P. (2015). Serotonin, but not dopamine, controls the stress response and anxiety-like behavior in the crayfish Procambarus clarkii. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *218*(17), 2745–2752.
- Fossat, P., Bacqué-Cazenave, J., Deurwaerdère, P. D., Delbecque, J.-P., & Cattaert, D. (2014a). Anxiety-like behavior in crayfish is controlled by serotonin. *Science*, *344*(6189), 1293–1297.
- Fossat, P., Bacqué-Cazenave, J., Deurwaerdère, P. D., Delbecque, J.-P., & Cattaert, D. (2014b). Anxiety-like behavior in crayfish is controlled by serotonin. *Science*, *344*(6189), 1293–1297.
- Frazer, A., & Hensler, J. G. (1999). Serotonin Receptors. *Basic Neurochemistry: Molecular, Cellular and Medical Aspects. 6th Edition.*
- Gerlai, R. (2014). Fish in behavior research: Unique tools with a great promise! *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 234, 54–58.
- GHERARDI, F., Souty-Grosset, C., Vogt, G., Diéguez-Uribeondo, J., & Crandall, K. (2010). Infraorder astacidea Latreille, 1802 P.O.: The freshwater crayfish. *The Crustacea Part A+B*, *Decapoda*.
- Gingrich, J., Ticiani, E., & Veiga-Lopez, A. (2020). Placenta Disrupted: Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals and Pregnancy. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, *31*(7), 508–524.
- Grillon, C., Duncko, R., Covington, M. F., Kopperman, L., & Kling, M. A. (2007). Acute Stress Potentiates Anxiety in Humans. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(10), 1183–1186.
- Gross, C., & Hen, R. (2004). The developmental origins of anxiety. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *5*(7), Article 7.
- Handley, S. L., & McBlane, J. W. (1993). 5HT drugs in animal models of anxiety. *Psychopharmacology*, *112*(1), 13–20.
- Hannon, J., & Hoyer, D. (2008). Molecular biology of 5-HT receptors. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *195*(1), 198–213.
- Hong, M., Chen, L., Qin, J. G., Sun, X., Li, E., Gu, S., & Yu, N. (2009). Acute tolerance and metabolic responses of Chinese mitten crab (Eriocheir sinensis) juveniles to ambient nitrite. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 149(3), 419–426.

Increasing correlations between personality traits and cortisol stress responses obtained by data aggregation. (1997). *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 22(8), 615–625.

Judy, N. with. (2023, January 10). Microblog: Acute vs Chronic Stress. Nutrition With Judy. Kahn, L. G., Philippat, C., Nakayama, S. F., Slama, R., & Trasande, L. (2020). Endocrinedisrupting chemicals: Implications for human health. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology, 8(8), 703–718.

- Karayol, R., Medrihan, L., Warner-Schmidt, J. L., Fait, B. W., Rao, M. N., Holzner, E. B., Greengard, P., Heintz, N., & Schmidt, E. F. (n.d.). Serotonin receptor 4 in the hippocampus modulates mood and anxiety. *Molecular Psychiatry*.
- Kassotis, C. D., Vandenberg, L. N., Demeneix, B. A., Porta, M., Slama, R., & Trasande, L. (2020). Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: Economic, regulatory, and policy implications. *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology*, 8(8), 719–730.
- Keay, K. A., & Bandler, R. (2001). Parallel circuits mediating distinct emotional coping reactions to different types of stress. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 25(7), 669–678.
- Kolpin, D. W., Furlong, E. T., Meyer, M. T., Thurman, E. M., Zaugg, S. D., Barber, L. B., & Buxton, H. T. (2002). Pharmaceuticals, Hormones, and Other Organic Wastewater Contaminants in U.S. Streams, 1999–2000: A National Reconnaissance. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 36(6), 1202–1211.
- Kudielka, B. M., von Känel, R., Preckel, D., Zgraggen, L., Mischler, K., & Fischer, J. E. (2006). Exhaustion is associated with reduced habituation of free cortisol responses to repeated acute psychosocial stress. *Biological Psychology*, 72(2), 147–153.
- Kummer, G., & Keller, R. (1993). High-affinity binding of crustacean hyperglycemic hormone (cHH) to hepatopancreatic plasma membranes of the crab Carcinus maenas and the crayfish Orconectes limosus. *Peptides*, *14*(1), 103–108.
- Kumsta, R., Entringer, S., Hellhammer, D. H., & Wüst, S. (2007). Cortisol and ACTH responses to psychosocial stress are modulated by corticosteroid binding globulin levels. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 32(8), 1153–1157.
- Kumsta, R., Entringer, S., Koper, J. W., van Rossum, E. F. C., Hellhammer, D. H., & Wüst, S. (2007a). Sex Specific Associations between Common Glucocorticoid Receptor Gene Variants and Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis Responses to Psychosocial Stress. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(8), 863–869.
- Kumsta, R., Entringer, S., Koper, J. W., van Rossum, E. F. C., Hellhammer, D. H., & Wüst, S. (2007b). Sex Specific Associations between Common Glucocorticoid Receptor Gene Variants and Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis Responses to Psychosocial Stress. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(8), 863–869.

- Kyrou, I., & Tsigos, C. (2009). Stress hormones: Physiological stress and regulation of metabolism. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, *9*(6), 787–793.
- Landmann, R. M., Müller, F. B., Perini, C., Wesp, M., Erne, P., & Bühler, F. R. (1984). Changes of immunoregulatory cells induced by psychological and physical stress: Relationship to plasma catecholamines. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, *58*(1), 127–135.
- Lerner, J. S., & Keltner, D. (2000). Beyond valence: Toward a model of emotion-specific influences on judgement and choice. *Cognition and Emotion*, *14*(4), 473–493.
- Lin, L.-J., Chen, Y.-J., Chang, Y.-S., & Lee, C.-Y. (2013). Neuroendocrine responses of a crustacean host to viral infection: Effects of infection of white spot syndrome virus on the expression and release of crustacean hyperglycemic hormone in the crayfish Procambarus clarkii. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part A, Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 164(2), 327–332.
- Lorenzon, S., Edomi, P., Giulianini, P. G., Mettulio, R., & Ferrero, E. A. (2004). Variation of crustacean hyperglycemic hormone (cHH) level in the eyestalk and haemolymph of the shrimp Palaemon elegans following stress. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 207(Pt 24), 4205–4213.
- Lorenzon, S., Edomi, P., Giulianini, P. G., Mettulio, R., & Ferrero, E. A. (2005). Role of biogenic amines and cHH in the crustacean hyperglycemic stress response. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 208(17), 3341–3347.
- Ložek, F., Kuklina, I., Grabicová, K., Kubec, J., Buřič, M., Grabic, R., Randák, T., Císař, P., & Kozák, P. (2019). Behaviour and cardiac response to stress in signal crayfish exposed to environmental concentrations of tramadol. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *213*, 105217.
- Lupien, S. J., McEwen, B. S., Gunnar, M. R., & Heim, C. (2009). Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10(6), Article 6.
- Mathews, A., & MacLeod, C. (1994). Cognitive approaches to emotion and emotional disorders. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 45, 25–50.
- McEwen, B. S. (2008). Central effects of stress hormones in health and disease: Understanding the protective and damaging effects of stress and stress mediators. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *583*(2), 174–185.
- McGonagle, K. A., & Kessler, R. C. (1990). Chronic stress, acute stress, and depressive symptoms. American Journal of Community Psychology, 18(5), 681–706.
- Motzer, S. A., & Hertig, V. (2004). Stress, stress response, and health. *Nursing Clinics*, 39(1), 1–17.
- Nonylphenol occurrence, distribution, toxicity and analytical methods in freshwater | SpringerLink. (n.d.). Retrieved June 1, 2021.

- Noorimotlagh, Z., Mirzaee, S. A., Martinez, S. S., Rachoń, D., Hoseinzadeh, M., & Jaafarzadeh, N. (2020). Environmental exposure to nonylphenol and cancer progression Risk–A systematic review. *Environmental Research*, *184*, 109263.
- Pagé, M.-P., & Cooper, R. L. (2004). Novelty stress and reproductive state alters responsiveness to sensory stimuli and 5-HT neuromodulation in crayfish. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 139(2), 149–158.
- Park, S.-K., Cheun, H., Kim, Y.-W., Bae, J., Yoo, S., Kim, W. H., Lim, Y.-J., & Kim, J.-T. (2022). Ultrasound-assisted spinal anesthesia: A randomized comparison between midline and paramedian approaches. *Journal of Clinical Anesthesia*, 80, 110823.
- *Peripheral 5-HT4 receptors—Hegde—1996—The FASEB Journal—Wiley Online Library.* (n.d.). Retrieved March 20, 2021.
- Perry, C. J., & Baciadonna, L. (2017). Studying emotion in invertebrates: What has been done, what can be measured and what they can provide. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 220(21), 3856–3868.
- Price, J. L., & Drevets, W. C. (2012). Neural circuits underlying the pathophysiology of mood disorders. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *16*(1), 61–71.
- Reisinger, A. J., Reisinger, L. S., Richmond, E. K., & Rosi, E. J. (2021a). Exposure to a common antidepressant alters crayfish behavior and has potential subsequent ecosystem impacts. *Ecosphere*, *12*(6), e03527.
- Reisinger, A. J., Reisinger, L. S., Richmond, E. K., & Rosi, E. J. (2021b). Exposure to a common antidepressant alters crayfish behavior and has potential subsequent ecosystem impacts. *Ecosphere*, *12*(6), e03527.
- Roberts, C., Sahakian, B. J., & Robbins, T. W. (2020). Psychological mechanisms and functions of 5-HT and SSRIs in potential therapeutic change: Lessons from the serotonergic modulation of action selection, learning, affect, and social cognition. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 119, 138–167.
- Rodríguez, E. M., Medesani, D. A., & Fingerman, M. (2007). Endocrine disruption in crustaceans due to pollutants: A review. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 146(4), 661–671.
- Russell, G., & Lightman, S. (2019). The human stress response. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *15*(9), Article 9.
- Ruvina, K & Bergman, D. (in press). The unmasking of aggressive chemosignaling via the crayfish model: and in-depth urinalysis using HPLC. N.d.

- Sapolsky, R. M. (1994). Individual differences and the stress response. *Seminars in Neuroscience*, 6(4), 261–269.
- Serotonin and brain function: A tale of two receptors—RL Carhart-Harris, DJ Nutt, 2017. (n.d.). Retrieved March 24, 2021.
- Shenassa, E., Widemann, L., & Hunt, C. (2021). Antepartum Depression and Preterm Birth: Pathophysiology, Epidemiology, and Disparities due to structural racism. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 23.
- Singh, A., Petrides, J. S., Gold, P. W., Chrousos, G. P., & Deuster, P. A. (1999). Differential Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis Reactivity to Psychological and Physical Stress1. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 84(6), 1944–1948.
- Soares, A., Guieysse, B., Jefferson, B., Cartmell, E., & Lester, J. N. (2008). Nonylphenol in the environment: A critical review on occurrence, fate, toxicity and treatment in wastewaters. *Environment International*, *34*(7), 1033–1049.
- Stewart, A. M., Braubach, O., Spitsbergen, J., Gerlai, R., & Kalueff, A. V. (2014). Zebrafish models for translational neuroscience research: From tank to bedside. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 37(5), 264–278.
- Swift, K., Mackay, S., Waalkes, W., Gauthier, S., & Bergman, D. (in press). Effects of nonylphenol Exposure on crayfish survival and orientation behavior. N.d.
- Tierney, A. J., & Mangiamele, L. A. (2001). Effects of serotonin and serotonin analogs on posture and agonistic behavior in crayfish. *Journal of Comparative Physiology. A, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology*, 187(10), 757–767.
- *Tryptophan depletion, serotonin, and depression: Where do we stand? Abstract—Europe PMC.* (n.d.). Retrieved February 9, 2021.
- US EPA, O. (2014, November 3). *Supplemental Module: Aquatic Life Criteria* [Overviews and Factsheets].
- Valencia-Castañeda, G., Frías-Espericueta, M. G., Vanegas-Pérez, R. C., Chávez-Sánchez, M. C., & Páez-Osuna, F. (2020). Physiological changes in the hemolymph of juvenile shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei to sublethal nitrite and nitrate stress in low-salinity waters. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 80, 103472.
- Vasudevan, S., & Rajendran, S. (2021). Thermal stress induced hyperglycemia in the blue swimmer crab, Portunus pelagicus. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, *100*, 103076.

- Vedhara, K., Hyde, J., Gilchrist, I. D., Tytherleigh, M., & Plummer, S. (2000). Acute stress, memory, attention and cortisol. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 25(6), 535–549.
- Vidal, R., Valdizán, E. M., Mostany, R., Pazos, A., & Castro, E. (2009). Long-term treatment with fluoxetine induces desensitization of 5-HT4 receptor-dependent signalling and functionality in rat brain. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *110*(3), 1120–1127.
- Welch, W. J. (1992). Mammalian stress response: Cell physiology, structure/function of stress proteins, and implications for medicine and disease. *Physiological Reviews*, 72(4), 1063–1081.
- Writer, J. H., Ferrer, I., Barber, L. B., & Thurman, E. M. (2013). Widespread occurrence of neuro-active pharmaceuticals and metabolites in 24 Minnesota rivers and wastewaters. *Science of The Total Environment*, 461–462, 519–527.
- Yang, W., Gao, X., Wu, Y., Wan, L., Tan, L., Yuan, S., Ding, H., & Zhang, W. (2020). The combined toxicity influence of microplastics and nonylphenol on microalgae Chlorella pyrenoidosa. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 195, 110484.